2008

Wendy Gudmundson, Kay Gudmundson v. Del Ozone, Ozonesolutions, L.C. Johnson Controls, Inc., John and Jane Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 78-2-2(3)(j) (“orders, judgments, and decrees of any court of record over which the Court of Appeals does not have original appellate jurisdiction.”).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1: The district court erred in granting summary judgment to the defendants on the basis of collateral estoppel.

Standard of Review (as to all issues): In reviewing the grant of a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court gives no deference to any finding by the trial court, *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State*, 779 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989); *Schurtz v. BMW of N. Am., Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108, 1112 (Utah 1991), but essentially reviews the case *de novo*, being free to reappraise the trial court’s legal conclusions, *Barber v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 751 P.2d 248, 251 (Utah App. 1988); *Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991), applying the same standard as that applied by the trial court, *Durham v. Margetts*, 571 P.2d 1332, 1334 (Utah 1977); *Briggs v. Holcomb*, 740 P.2d 281, 283 (Utah App. 1987). Because disposition of a case on summary judgment denies the benefit of a trial on the merits, the appellate court must review the evidence in the light most favorable to the losing party, and may affirm *only* where it appears that there is no genuine dispute as to any material issues of fact, or where, even according to the facts as contended by the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, *Barber*, 751 P.2d at 251; *Winegar*, 813 P.2d at 107.

Determinative law (as to Issues 1 and 2):

Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). “The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is *no genuine issue as to any material fact* and that the moving party is *entitled to a judgment as a matter of law*.” (Emphasis added). *Jackson v. Dabney*, 645 P.2d 613, 615 (Utah 1982) (A genuine issue of fact exists where on the basis of the facts in the record, reasonable minds could differ on whether defendant’s conduct measures up to the required standard). *Young v. Felornia*, 121 Utah 646, 648, 244 P.2d 862, 863 (Utah 1952) (If there exists any genuine issue of material fact, a motion for summary judgment must be denied). *Ruffinengo v. Miller*, 579 P.2d 342, 343 (Utah 1978); *Billings v. Union Bankers Ins. Co.*, 819 P.2d 803, 803 (Utah 1991).

Issue No. 1A: The trial court erred in finding that the elements of collateral estoppel were met in the instant case, in that application of collateral estoppel to the facts of this case violates the purposes behind the Workers Compensation Act, by forcing an injured worker to either avail himself of the exclusive remedies of the Workers Compensation Act against the employer *or* the civil litigation remedies against the non-employer third party, but not both.

- i. The requirement that the issues in the first trial be identical to those in the second case is not met here.
- ii. The Utah Workers Compensation Act was instituted to provide a quick, informal remedy for injured Utah workers.
- iii. Workers compensation proceedings are far different from and serve different purposes than civil litigation.

- iv. The workers compensation scheme does not anticipate nor provide a “full and fair” lawsuit resulting in a “final judgment on the merits” that precludes a subsequent third-party suit.
- v. The Utah Workers Compensation Act expressly permits a separate action against a third party – not a bar against such an action.
- vi. By forcing an injured worker to make an election of remedies of either workers compensation or third-party litigation, the district court’s erroneous reading of the law defeats the purposes behind the Utah Workers Compensation Act.

Issue No. 1B: Application of collateral estoppel to this case violates the “open courts” provision of the Utah Constitution.

Issue No. 1C: Application of collateral estoppel to the facts of this case is manifestly unjust.

Issue No. 2: The trial court erred in determining that because “Plaintiffs have failed to produce evidence that Del Ozone’s ozone generator was defective,” Del Ozone was entitled to summary judgment.

Issue No. 2A: The district court erred in denying Plaintiffs’ Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f) motion for additional time to adduce evidence in opposition to Del Ozone’s motion for summary judgment.

Standard of Review (as to Issue No. 2A): Denials of Utah R. Civ. P. 56(f) motions are decided on an “abuse of discretion” standard. *Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89,

¶ 29, 16 P.3d 540, 547 (2000); *Price Dev. Co. v. Orem City*, 2000 UT 26, ¶ 9, 995 P.2d 1237, 1243 (2000).

Issue No. 2B: The district court erred in determining that Plaintiffs had failed to introduce evidence that Del Ozone's ozone generator was defective.

Issue No. 3: The June 4, 2008 (Second) Notice of Appeal from the district court's final judgment issued May 28, 2008 was timely as to all parties and issues in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural summary.

This appeal is from the Order Granting Summary Judgment dated May 28, 2008, (Record on Appeal – hereafter ROA – 1845, attached hereto as Appendix A), appealed herein on June 4, 2008 (ROA 1848). In that order, the district court certified that order as the final judgment of the court on the entire matter, as follows:

“This Ruling and Order shall constitute the final Order of the Court on this matter. No further Order need be submitted by the parties.”

(ROA 1846).

Factual summary.

In December, 2004, Wendy Gudmundson worked as a supervisor at the Wasatch Laundry Facility of the Utah State Prison (run by the Utah Department of Corrections). (ROA 487-490). In mid-December, 2004, an ozone generating system – intended to boost water and cleaning efficiency through the injection of ozone into the laundry water (ROA 435) – was installed at the prison laundry. Within days after the system

commenced operations, Mrs. Gudmundson began to suffer severe, debilitating headaches, (ROA 495-505, 605). She also developed brain swelling, (ROA 612), chemical encephalopathy, multiple chemical sensitivity, vagal maladaptation, (ROA 685), weight loss, (ROA 509:111) fatigue and other physical pain. Ultimately, she underwent brain surgery to remedy a Chiari malformation [a defect that causes the brain to impinge downward on the spinal column]. (ROA 278). She continues to suffer medical problems to this day. She has suffered a significant brain injury, which has rendered her totally unable to perform her normal work and daily activities. (ROA 1791).

The ozone generating system had been designed in part by Del Ozone (ROA 544:12-13; 549:31), and contained parts purchased from Del Ozone (ROA 545:16-17; ROA 549:30-31). OzoneSolutions supervised the installation of the system, (ROA 550:35; ROA 552:44-45), under the supervision and control of Johnson Controls, Inc. (ROA 241; ROA 552:45 – 553:46). Johnson Controls had a contract with the Utah Department of Corrections to install the ozone system. (ROA 414:24-25). Johnson Controls subcontracted with OzoneSolutions to install the ozone system. (ROA 548:27-28; 549:30-32).

Ozone, the chemical used in the system, is a powerful oxidizing agent in air and water disinfection. It generally exists as a gas and is highly chemically reactive. (ROA 537-539) Ozone is closely regulated by the US Environmental Protection Agency, in part, because when combined with naturally occurring organic matter in water it creates known disinfection byproducts such as total trihalomethanes, haloacetic acids, bromate and chlorite, that pose serious health hazards. *See Safe Drinking Water Act* (“SDWA”),

42 U.S.C.S. § 300j-9(i)(2)(A) (2008); *See also National Primary Drinking Water Regulations: Disinfectants and Disinfection Byproducts*, 63 Fed. Reg. 69,390, 69,398-69,435 (1998) ("Explanation of Final Rule"). The EPA warns that ozone as a water disinfectant creates byproducts from organic material (in the water or laundry) that have shown to be neurotoxic, as well as toxic or carcinogenic to most organ systems. *See id.* *See also* ROA 635-644, Peter Dowideit & Clemens Von Sonntag, *Reaction of Ozone with Ethene and Its Methyl- and Chlorine-Substituted Derivatives in Aqueous Solution*, 32 *Envtl. Sci. Tech.* 1112 (1998).

The laundry room at the Utah State Prison did not have the recommended six (6) air changes per hour ("ACH") for the ozone system. (ROA 557:62). Prior to installing and starting the ozone laundry disinfection system, OzoneSolutions did not verify that the prison laundry facility had the requisite ACH, nor did OzoneSolutions inform prison authorities that six ACH were required. (ROA 549:33-550:34). The OzoneSolutions ozone laundry disinfection system installed in the prison did not have an ambient ozone monitoring devices to signal when ozone levels are in excess of EPA and OSHA regulations. (ROA 559:70). *See also* 40 C.F.R. §§ 50.9, 50.10; *See also Encyclopedia of Occupational Health & Safety* 45.10 (Jeanne Mager Stellman et al. eds., 4th ed., International Labor Office 1998) (ROA 588). Even after ventilation was put in to try and control ozone levels, the ambient ozone levels continued to exceed OSHA and EPA levels. Ultimately, the ozone laundry disinfection system was shut down and, to date, has not been restarted. (ROA 590; ROA 592-593; ROA 595-599).

Del Ozone knew that the ozone generator and other key Del Ozone components used in the system in question was to be shipped to “Utah D[e]partment O[f] C[orrections], Draper Prison, 14425 Bitter Brush Lane, Draper, Utah 84020.” (ROA 601).

After the installation of the ozone system, at least one other prison employee working in the laundry department, Adrian Jesse Manzanares, also suffered symptoms after exposure to the ozone system. (ROA 711-712). A couple of inmates who worked in the laundry (whose identity has not been ascertained to this point) also complained of headaches from the ozone system. (ROA 412:15-16; ROA 415:26).

On May 13, 2005, Mrs. Gudmundson filed a workers compensation claim with the Utah Labor Commission for medical expenses and disability benefits. (*See* ROA 281). In accordance with the statutes regulating workers compensation, this claim was her exclusive remedy against her employer. *See* Section 34A-2-105, Utah Code Ann. It was processed in accordance with the applicable statutes and regulations, which provide for an abbreviated and limited process – time limits on the presentation of evidence; medical reports submitted in lieu of testimony subject to cross-examination; limited discovery and limits on attorneys fees, among other limitations. *See, generally*, Utah Admin. Code r. 602 and Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-802(1).

Because the worker’s compensation system is set up to expedite the award of benefits to an injured worker, most applicants do not develop a worker’s compensation case as they would a personal injury lawsuit. (ROA 1779). In general practice, once a case is filed, the Labor Commission requires the employer and its insurance carrier to

respond within 30 days. Once an answer has been submitted, notice of a date for a hearing is set, usually three to four months from the date of the notice. No later than 45 days before a hearing, the parties are required to file a disclosure statement with the Labor Commission indicating all witnesses who will testify and the evidence that will be submitted at the hearing. (ROA 1775-1776).

Medical experts are not allowed to testify nor undergo cross-examination at a worker's compensation hearing. Instead, written reports are submitted in advance of the hearing as part of a joint medical exhibit. Hence, supportive reports of the applicant's doctors, and the opposing reports of the defense doctors are included in that exhibit. When there exists a medical controversy in a worker's compensation case, the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) will send the case to a "medical panel" to review and report to the ALJ on the medical issues. The "medical panel" reviews the medical records and then reports to the ALJ. There is no cross-examination of the "medical panel" nor, for that matter, of any medical "expert" whose evidence, presented entirely in writing, is presented before the panel. (ROA 1777-1778). The "medical panel" report will trump any other expert opinions, so long as there is substantial evidence in the record to support the panel's conclusions. (ROA 1780). Most Labor Commission hearings last only an hour to an hour and a half, with most of the time being taken up by lay testimony, including the injured worker. (ROA 1778).

Given these limitations, it is extremely rare for an applicant's attorney to take the deposition of a defense doctor. (ROA 1776). Similarly, it is rare for an applicant's attorney to hire their own medical expert, due mainly to financial considerations. (ROA

1776). The applicant usually has no money to pay for a special expert, and often medical insurance coverage issues limit primary medical treatment. An applicant's attorney is often left with trying to "get a report from whoever is available and willing to write a report." (ROA 1777). Some complex cases (in which, for example, a worker has been exposed to toxins in the workplace, as opposed to a common low back or knee injury), are considered to be "works in progress," in that it takes time and continued medical testing to determine what is wrong with the injured worker. (ROA 1778-1779). In those types of cases, it is not always clear early on what is causing the worker to be ill, and an initial assessment by a treating physician may not be correct as to the actual illness that the worker is suffering. (ROA 1778-1779). In such cases, counsel for the applicant may not have all of the information or medical workup that they would like. Nonetheless, most clients simply press their workers compensation attorney to move forward with the workers compensation matter because of their financial circumstances. Often the worker and the attorney "just have to hope for the best when the case gets before a medical panel." (ROA 1779).

The standards for review of medical and other evidence are different in Labor Commission matters than litigation in the district courts. The standards of *Daubert* do not apply to a worker's compensation hearing. Hearsay evidence is not restricted as it is under the Utah Rules of Evidence. (ROA 1179-1780). Of course, there is no jury in an administrative Labor Commission proceeding.

In Mrs. Gudmundson's case, the Labor Commission considered a medical report from an "Independent Medical Evaluation" performed by Edward B. Holmes, M.D.,

which concluded that Mrs. Gudmundson's medical condition was not caused by "the December 17, 2004 exposure to ozone." (ROA 618). He specifically concluded that he found it "highly improbable" and "not medically reasonable" that Mrs. Gudmundson's brain swelling leading to the Chiari Malformation was caused by ozone exposure (ROA 295), despite his notation in his records of a letter dated June 28, 2005, from Dr. Howard Reichman of the Utah Valley Regional Medical Center, (who had actually *treated* Mrs. Gudmundson), had stated that "ozone exposure was responsible for brain swelling and that the lumbar puncture allowed a negative pressure to develop in the spinal canal which, in turn, allowed the tonsils [the Chiari Malformation] to drop." (ROA 292-293; emphasis in original). The commission also considered the opinion of Dr. Joseph Jarvis, who could not "opine a medical causal connection." (ROA 349-350; ROA 283). Ultimately, the Labor Commission denied Mrs. Gudmundson's claim, stating in its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, dated October 2, 2006 (ROA 281, *et. seq.*):

The preponderance of evidence does not support a medical causal connection between the petitioner's exposure to ozone and the Chiari Malformation for which she was treated. Dr. Jarvis, acting as a neutral medical panel evaluator with expertise in occupational medicine, could not opine a medical causal connection. Dr. Holmes, also an expert in occupational medicine, reviewed the medical literature and the medical records of this case and was unable to correlate the ozone exposure and the petitioner's medical condition.

The petitioner's medical condition was not caused or aggravated by her exposure to ozone at work in December 2004 while employed by the respondent, State of Utah, Department of Corrections.

(ROA 283).

Mrs. Gudmundson appealed the Labor Commission's decision to the Utah Labor Commission's Appeals Board on November 2, 2006. (ROA 322). That appeal was denied by way of an "Order Affirming ALJ's Decision," (ROA 357 *et. seq.*), which cited the Labor Commission's decision that "denied Ms. Gudmundson's claim on the grounds that her medical problems were not caused or aggravated by her work-related exposure to ozone during December 2004," (ROA 357), with the following finding:

[T]he existing facts, which are fully supported by evidence that was actually presented and accepted into the record, fully support the medical panel's opinion.

In summary, the Appeals Board concludes that the medical panel's report and, in turn, Judge Hann's decision, are supported by the evidence adduced during the evidentiary proceedings in this matter. The Appeals Board finds no sufficient reason to reopen the evidentiary proceeding. The Appeals Board therefore affirms Judge Hann's denial of Ms. Gudmundson's claim.

(ROA 358).

In accordance with Section 34A-2-106, Utah Code Ann., which allows claims against non-employer third parties arising from industrial injuries, Mrs. Gudmundson, along with her husband, Kay, commenced the action that is on appeal before this court, against Del Ozone and OzoneSolutions, by way of a complaint filed September 20, 2005. (ROA 1). The complaint was later amended on November 6, 2006, to add Johnson Controls, Inc. as a defendant. (ROA 100).

Some discovery was undertaken in the case, including the depositions of Doug Wright, facilities coordinator at the Utah Department of Corrections (ROA 408), George Eddleman, former laundry employee at the Utah Department of Corrections (ROA 466), the plaintiff, Wendy Gudmundson (ROA 481), and John Downey, part owner of

OzoneSolutions (ROA 541). Additionally, there were requests for production of documents and interrogatories. Evidence has been adduced and made part of the record that demonstrated that Mrs. Gudmundson's injuries *were in fact* caused by exposure to the ozone laundry disinfection system and that, contrary to the findings of the Utah Labor Commission, such injuries arose from exposure to ozone *and to chemical byproducts* (the Utah Labor Commission's findings were limited to "ozone exposure" alone, with no mention or consideration of the chemical byproducts that also injured Mrs. Gudmundson (ROA 283)). For instance, Dr. Kay H. Kilburn, designated by Plaintiffs as an expert witness, (ROA 660), diagnosed Mrs. Gudmundson with: "(1) Chemical encephalopathy due to ozone and other chemicals; (2) Multiple chemical sensitivity; (3) Vagal maladaptation – nearly fixed heart rate; (4) Chiari malformation with herniation relieved surgically; (5) No history of seizures." (ROA 685). He then concluded:

Ms. Gudmundson worked as a supervisor in the prison laundry for four years without difficulty. She was a correctional officer for 9 years. She had exposures to chlorine, phosphoric acid, sodium hydroxide sulfide and hydrofluorosalic acid. A new ozone bleach process was installed in the laundry. Within 10 days of this new exposure, she developed severe headaches, cramping, dehydration, dizziness, vomiting and sought emergency care. During work-up of these problems a Chiari malformation was found and surgically corrected. Many medicines were given for headaches, which are not abated. When I evaluated her on April 3, 2007, she had five impairments of function including balance, reaction time, vibration, and hearing. Her most disabling problem is profound chemical sensitivity that makes ordinary life impossible because she must avoid many scents and chemicals and building [sic]. Chemical sensitivity has continued since 2004 and is most probably permanent. *The sequence of events is explained best by ozone inhalation producing increased absorption of it and the background chemicals: chlorine, phosphoric acid, sodium hydroxide, hydrofluorosalic acid-fluorine and resmethrin, a pyrethroid insecticide, and detergents that caused intolerance to many chemicals* manifested by headache, reduced sense of smell, memory loss, dryness of skin and mucous membrane. This made Wendy Gudmundson totally and permanently disabled.

This expert opinion is rendered to the legal standard of more probable than not.

(ROA 686; emphasis added).

In addition, expert witness Douglas E. Rollins, M.D., Ph.D. opined:

It is my opinion that Wendy Gudmundson's exposures to the ozone laundry purification while she worked at the Wasatch Laundry facility exposed her to ozone *and to the disinfection byproducts catalyzed by the ozone*. These substances resulted in the severe, intractable frontal headaches that resulted in her admission to the Timpanogos Hospital on December 20, 2004.

(ROA 688, 692; emphasis added).

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