2008

Wendy Gudmundson, Kay Gudmundson v. Del Ozone, Ozonesolutions, L.C. Johnson Controls, Inc., John and Jane Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. The District Court correctly applied the law of collateral estoppel to the determination reached by the Utah Labor Commission that Mrs. Gudmundson's injuries were not caused by contact with and/or exposure to ozone.

A. Utah law, consistent with the law of other jurisdictions, supports the principle that collateral estoppel is properly applied to administrative adjudications of workers' compensation courts, specifically including adjudications relating to causation.

The Utah Labor Commission's determination that Mrs. Gudmundson's medical condition was not caused by exposure to ozone also fulfilled all of the requirements of collateral estoppel. These elements are met since (a) the issue of causation in this case, which is determinative of all Mrs. Gudmundson's claims, is identical to the issue of causation adjudicated before the Utah Labor Commission; (b) the Utah Labor Commission's determination, which was not appealed further by Mrs. Gudmundson, was a final judgment on the merits reached only after Mrs. Gudmundson had an opportunity to fully and fairly present her evidence and arguments; © Mrs. Gudmundson was a party to the adjudication of the labor commission and her husbands claims are subject to that adjudication as they are

based on the alleged injury to Mrs. Gudmundson determined by the Utah Labor Commission; and (d) Mrs. Gudmundson had an opportunity to fully and fairly present her claim before the Utah Labor Commission and the issue of causation was completely, fully and fairly adjudicated.

B. Additionally, public policy supports the application of collateral estoppel in this case. The public policy purposes behind collateral estoppel include (1) preserving the integrity of the judicial system by preventing inconsistent judicial outcomes and (2) promoting judicial economy by preventing previously litigated issues from being re-litigated. By applying collateral estoppel in this case, the District Court has ensured that the issues raised by Appellants in their civil lawsuit are consistent with the prior adjudication of the Utah Labor Commission and ensured that the issue of causation is not re-litigated.

The public policy grounds offered by Appellants and Utah Association for Justice as Amicus Curiae against applying collateral estoppel are also without merit.

First, the issue of causation was already fully adjudicated by the Utah Labor Commission under the same standard required in this case, namely preponderance of the evidence. Since the standard is the same, public policy supports the application of collateral estoppel in the subsequent action.

Second, the Utah legislature has, by statute, given the Utah Labor Commission authority and jurisdiction to determine causation in workers' compensation adjudications.

Because the Utah Labor Commission is a court of competent jurisdiction, collateral estoppel is properly applied to its findings.

Third, the Utah Workers' Compensation Act was enacted by the Utah legislature in order to assist injured workers in obtaining benefits for industrial injuries in a fair, albeit expedited, manner. Pursuant to this act, and others like it, courts have regularly held that adjudications before administrative agencies, specifically including workers' compensation courts are fair and adequate for purposes of applying collateral estoppel. Accordingly, public policy supports the application of collateral estoppel.

Fourth, applicants for workers' compensation benefits such as Mrs. Gudmundson, have every incentive to fully adjudicate the issues before the workers' compensation court. There is no "risk" associated with bringing a claim before a workers' compensation board, since the issues, incentives, and burden of proof are the same. If a party raises an issue, that party should be ready and willing to prove that issue, and should not be given a second chance when he or she fails to do so.

Finally, the principle of collateral estoppel ensures that the workers compensation and civil cases will not have inconsistent results. Indeed, this is one of the specifically enumerated public policy purposes behind the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

II. The Rule 56(f) continuance requested by the Appellants was properly denied. Since additional discovery would have done nothing to alter the District Court's application of collateral estoppel to the prior determination made by the Utah Labor Commission, the

District Court's denial of the Rule 56(f) motion did not exceed the limits of reasonability. Without a finding that the District Court exceeded the limits of reasonability, its denial of the Rule 56(f) extension should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY APPLIED COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL TO THE ISSUE OF CAUSATION AS DETERMINED BY THE UTAH LABOR COMMISSION.

The District Court correctly applied the law of collateral estoppel to the determination reached by the Utah Labor Commission that Mrs. Gudmundson's injuries were not caused by ozone exposure. Appellants are asking this court to modify well-established legal principles and effectively grant them a second chance to prove an issue that has already been fully and fairly adjudicated by a Utah court of competent jurisdiction. Not only is the requested relief contrary to established principles of law, the effect of this relief would be to marginalize the determinations made by administrative law judges, diminish the effectiveness of administrative courts, and contravene the purpose of such courts in general.

A. COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL WAS CORRECTLY APPLIED BY THE DISTRICT COURT BECAUSE COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL APPLIES TO ADJUDICATIONS BY WORKERS COMPENSATION COURTS AND BECAUSE ALL OF THE ELEMENTS OF COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL WERE PROPERLY MET.

This Court should affirm the judgements entered by the District Court because (1) the application of collateral estoppel to an adjudication of the Utah Labor Commission is proper under Utah law and (2) the Labor Commission's adjudication and findings fulfilled all of the requirements of collateral estoppel.

1. Utah law, consistent with the law of other jurisdictions, states that collateral estoppel is properly applied to administrative adjudications of workers' compensation courts.

Collateral estoppel, also known as “issue preclusion,” prevents parties from re-litigating issues resolved in a prior, related action. *See Sevy v. Security Title Co.*, 902 P.2d 629, 632 (Utah 1995). The principle behind collateral estoppel is that once a party has had his or her day in court and lost, he or she does not get a second change to prevail on the same issues. *See Berry v. Berry*, 738 P.2d 246, 249 (Utah 1987).

Both this Court and the Utah Court of Appeals have, on multiple occasions, specifically held that collateral estoppel applies to administrative adjudications in Utah. *See Career serv. Review Bd. V. Utah Dep't of Corr.*, 942 P.2d 933, 938 (Utah 1997) and *Salt Lake Citizens Congress v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 846 P.2d 1245, 1251 (Utah 1992) (res judicata and collateral estoppel apply to administrative adjudications).

In *Nebeker v. Utah State Tax Com'n*, 34 P.3d 180 (Utah 2001) this Court held that although res judicata was “initially developed with respect to the judgments of courts, the same basic policies, including the need for finality in administrative decisions, support application of the doctrine of res judicata to administrative agency determinations.” *See also Utah Department of Administrative Services v. Public Service Commission*, 658 P.2d 601, 621 (Utah 1983) and *Kirk v. Division of Occupational & Prof'l Licensing*, 815 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah Ct. App.1991) (“the principles of res judicata apply to enforce repose when an administrative agency has acted in a judicial capacity in an adversary proceeding to resolve a controversy over legal rights and to apply a remedy.”).

The principle that collateral estoppel applies to administrative adjudications is also well accepted among other courts across the country. *See, e.g., United States v. Utah Construction & Mining Co.*, 384 U.S. 394, 422, 86 S.Ct. 1545, 1560, 16 L.Ed.2d 642 (1966) (“When an administrative agency is acting in a judicial capacity and resolves disputed issues of fact properly before it which the parties have had an adequate opportunity to litigate, the courts have not hesitated to apply res judicata to enforce repose.”); *Second Taxing Dist. of the City of Norwalk v. FERC*, 683 F.2d 477, 484 (D.C.Cir.1982) (affirming rule); *Anthran v. Professional Air Traffic Controllers Org.*, 672 F.2d 706, 709 (8th Cir.1982) (collateral estoppel held to apply to administrative adjudications); *Jeffries v. Glacier State Tel. Co.*, 604 P.2d 4, 8-9 (Alaska 1979) (affirming rule); *Re Kansas City Power & Light Co.*, 75 Pub.Util.Rep.4th (PUR) 1, 133 (Mo.Pub.Serv.Comm'n 1986) (same); *Cincinnati Bell Tel. Co. v. Public Utils. Comm'n of Ohio*, 466 N.E.2d 848, 852 (Ohio 1984) (affirming principle); *State ex rel. Utilities Comm'n v. Carolinas Comm. for Indust. Power Rates & Area Dev., Inc.*, 257 N.C. 560, 126 S.E.2d 325, 333 (1962) (affirming rule); *Public Util. Comm'n v. Coalition of Cities for Affordable Util. Rates*, 776 S.W.2d 224, 226-28 (Tex.Ct.App.1989) (same).

Collateral estoppel has been specifically applied by courts across the country to determinations reached by Workers' Compensation courts. *See, e.g., McCabe v. Zeller Corp.*, 690 N.E.2d 85 (3d Dist. Defiance County 1997) (Res judicata applies to administrative proceedings that are judicial in nature, like workers' compensation claims, since parties had opportunity to litigate issues); *Yonkers v. Donora Borough*, 702 A.2d 618

(Pa. Commw. Ct. 1997) (Decision of workers' compensation judge can have preclusive effect in subsequent workers' compensation proceedings, as well as later civil and administrative proceedings); *Ayers v. Genter*, 117 N.W.2d 38 (Mich. 1962) (Plaintiff in tort action held estopped from re-litigating issue of whether he was in course and scope of employment where same was determined by workmen's compensation appeal board); *Kohler v. McCrory Stores*, 615 A.2d 27 (Pa. 1992) (same); *Van Houten v. Harco Const., Inc.*, 655 A.2d 331 (Me. 1995) (claim precluded due to res judicata from workers compensation claim regarding course and scope of employment); *Magma Copper Co. v. Industrial Commission*, 566 P.2d 699 (Ariz. Ct. App. Div. 1 1977) (since worker did not assert claim of mental disability though he was hospitalized for mental condition immediately after accident and where, therefore, Industrial Commission found no work-related mental disability, claim raised 12 years later as to "new and previously undiscovered" mental injuries was barred by res judicata).

Most important, collateral estoppel has been specifically held to apply to administrative court decisions made regarding "causation." See *Lopez v. Union Carbide Corp.*, 83 F.Supp. 2d 880 (E.D. Mich. 2000) (decision that worker did not suffer from work-related disease precluded re-litigation of same question in worker's action against corporation arising out of his alleged exposure to toxic chemicals); *Valisano v Chicago & N. W. R. Co.*, 225 NW 607 (Mi 1929), (finding in workers compensation that accident had not caused injuries held to preclude later injury claim through collateral estoppel); *Drier v.*

Randforce Amusement Corp. 179 N.Y.S.2d 412, 413 (N.Y.Sup.1958) (same); *Sedore v. Sayre*, 119 N.Y.S.2d 204 (N.Y. Sup. 1953) (inherent determination by workers compensation board that employee was injured in course and scope of employment was held sufficient to preclude later claim against employer); *Nicklos v. firestone Tire & Rubber Co.*, 346 F. Supp. 185 (E.D. Pa. 1972), *aff'd*, 485 F.2d 680 (3rd Cir. 1973) (plaintiff collaterally estopped from raising issue of causation where plaintiff was unsuccessful in establishing causal relationship in workers compensation case); *Ponte v. Malina Co.*, 745 A.2d 127 (R.I. 2000) (issue of re-injury to neck barred by res judicata since lack of causation had been established in prior case); *Waller v. Industrial Commission*, 431 P.2d 689 (Ariz. 1967) (finding by industrial commission that surgery was not causally related to industrial injury was res judicata to causation); *Westmoreland Coal Co. V. Russel*, 520 S.E.2d 839 (Va. App. 1999) (once an award adjudicating causation in workers' compensation claim becomes final the doctrine of res judicata bars further litigation of the issue of causation); *AMP, Inc. v. Ruebush*, 391 S.E.2d 879 (Va. App. 1990) (in cases involving industrial accident, issue of causation is not issue subject to change; pursuant to doctrine of res judicata, once final judgment has been entered, that issue ordinarily should not be re-litigated).

Finally, it is noteworthy that the United States District Court of Utah, when considering nearly the same issue that was decided in this case, held that collateral estoppel applied to a factual determination made by the Utah Labor Commission and thereby precluded a later civil claim. *See Stokes v. American Express Co.*, 989 F.2d 508 (D. Utah

1993) (Unpublished table case stating that determination in workers compensation case precluded later Title VII claim). In *Stokes* the plaintiff made a federal discrimination claim under Title VII based on sexual harassment and age discrimination. *Id.* 1. The Utah Industrial Commission determined, after evidence had been taken and witnesses heard, that the plaintiff had not been sexually harassed. *Id.* at P. 2. The court held that since “the issue of whether sexual harassment occurred is the same in both actions” and “the issue was competently, fully, and fairly litigated,” the plaintiff’s Title VII claim based on sexual harassment was barred due to issue preclusion. *Id.*

In this case, the District Court granted Summary Judgment based on the final determination of the Utah Labor Commission that Mrs. Gudmundson’s medical condition and claimed injuries were not related to or caused by her contact with ozone at the Utah State Prison. After reviewing all of the evidence, including the recommendations and conclusions of several independent medical doctors, the Utah Labor Commission found no evidence that Mrs. Gudmundson’s condition and injuries were caused by contact with ozone. The Administrative Law Judge specifically concluded that “The petitioner’s medical condition was not caused or aggravated by her exposure to ozone at work in December 2004 while employed by the respondent, State of Utah, Department of Corrections.” *See* Utah Labor Commission Order (ROA 283). Although Mrs. Gudmundson appealed the initial adjudication, the Utah Labor Commission Appeals Board affirmed the decision reached by the Administrative Law Judge. Mrs. Gudmundson could have appealed the final order of the

Utah Labor Commission with the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(a) (2004), however she chose not to do so.

After losing in her attempt to establish causation before the Utah Labor Commission, Mrs. Gudmundson has now filed civil claims based on this identical issue. The First Amended Complaint states, in pertinent part, as follows:

“Starting on or about December 9, 2004, Mrs. Gudmundson was exposed to ozone from an ozone generating machine newly installed at the Utah Department of Corrections . . . The ozone exposure triggered a series of events, eventually necessitating brain surgery. . . . Mrs. Gudmundson’s medical condition was caused by ozone overexposure due to the fact that the ozone generator in the Wasatch Laundry Facility lacked a ventilation system, a fresh air replenishing system, automatic shut-off, audible alarm, visual alarm, a recapture system for the ozone, and other required equipment under OSHA guidelines.”

First Amended Complaint (ROA 124-125). Although Appellants have attempted to differentiate the issues by now stating that their claims are based not only on contact with ozone, but also on contact with chemical byproducts of ozone, this argument is not based on the pleadings and was only raised by Appellants in response to the Motions for Summary Judgment. *See Id.* Indeed, Appellants attempt to re-badge the causation issue was noted by the District Court, which stated that the Appellants were trying to make their theory of causation a “moving target.” *See* Transcript from Hearing on Motions for Summary Judgment (ROA 1890).

Similar to *Stokes*, Mrs. Gudmundson has already had an opportunity to address the exact same issue and lost. This court has held that it is “axiomatic” that a plaintiff must

prove proximate causation in strict liability, breach of warranty, and negligence claims. *Interwest Const. v. Palmer*, 923 P.2d 1350, 1356 (Utah 1996). Therefore, since a necessary element of the Appellants' claims, namely causation, has already been fully and fairly determined by an Administrative Court, her claims were properly dismissed by the District Court.

2. The workers compensation court's determination that Mrs. Gudmundson's injuries were not caused by exposure to ozone fulfilled all of the requirements of collateral estoppel.

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